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St. Anthony Park Free Public Library, 1917

Riverview Free Public Library, 1917

Three public libraries in St. Paul; three fagades;
one giftof money from the Carnegie Foundation
to build all three; one architect for all three
buildings; and one approved set ofarchitectural
plans. What do these fagcades tellus? The top
and bottom photos are from 2010. The middle
photo is from 1994. Photos courtesy of the
Saint Paul Public Library.

Arlington Hills Free Public Library, 1917
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A Message from the Editorial Board

e thread running through the Spring issue of our magazine is buildings and builders. In
The lead article, art historian Lauren Freese examines the facades of three Beaux-Arts style
Carnegie Libraries in St. Paul. What makes her analysis so interesting is that all three public li-
braries were built by the same construction company using similar budgets and nearly identical
architectural plans prepared by one architect. Yet the facades are not identical. Freese analyzes the
neighborhood setting for each library to explain why. From libraries, the focus then turns to the
construction of two other St. Paul landmarks: James J. Hill’s mansion on Summit Avenue and the
Minnesota Capitol. John Sielaff uses little-known records to tell us about one master carpenter,
John Rachac, and how he used his skills in finishing the interior of the Hill family’s residence and
to build the seat of Minnesota’s government.

This issue then turns to Kate Jaeger’s history of a more recent building effort: the establish-
ment of the Open Cities Health Center (OCHC), which is now in its 45th year. Since its founding,
OCHC’s mission has been to provide health care to economically disadvantaged residents of
St. Paul, especially among people of color, recent immigrants, and those who lack health insur-
ance. This is a remarkable story because it began as a grass-roots effort led by women from the
neighborhood OCHC serves. Our final article is a short and poignant account of General John
B. Sanborn’s brief interview with President Abraham Lincoln in 1863. This excerpt comes from
Sanborn’s privately printed Speeches and Addresses, which the Society has reprinted and will
publish this summer.

Anne Cowie, Chair, Editorial Board
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St. Paul’s Beaux-Arts Carnegie Libraries:
Philanthropic Architecture in a Local Context

Lauren M. Freese

t. Paul is home to three Carnegie libraries set in widely divergent
neighborhoods that present an unusual opportunity to examine the

mpact of local socioeconomic factors and elements of ethnic iden-
tity on architectural design. City Architect Charles Hausler designed all
three buildings in 1917 in a distinctly Beaux-Arts style (see photos on front
cover). In addition, each of these Carnegie libraries was built on the same
budget by the same construction company working from nearly identical
architectural plans.1With these variables held constant, the importance of
the local environment surrounding each library’s construction emerges as

an important factor influencing their architectural design.

Detail, main entry, St. Anthony Park Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy ofLauren M.

Freese.

Despite their shared origin, the facades of
these libraries differ in subtle yet impor-
tant ways that warrant explanation. As the
facade is literally the face the structure
presents to the local community, these de-
sign differences reflect real or perceived
differences between the St. Paul communi-
ties whose residents were the intended pa-
trons of these Carnegie libraries. Located
in St. Anthony Park, the West Side, and
the Payne/Phalen communities, these
Carnegie libraries are known, respectively,
as the St. Anthony Park, Riverview, and
Arlington Hills free public libraries.2
Based on research that is presented
here, | argue that the architectural varia-
tions between these three libraries should
be attributed to differences in the pri-

mary ethnic identity and socioeconomic
status of the neighborhoods in which
these libraries were located at the time
of their design and construction. These
identifiable differences demonstrate the
importance of place on architectural de-
sign. My claim is corroborated by the
evident differences between the fagades
of each library, which are linked to the
historical origins, dominant ethnic iden-
tity, and socioeconomic status associated
with each community around the time of
the libraries’ construction.

Andrew Carnegie’s
Philanthropic Architecture
The Carnegie library is one of the most
recognizable building types in archi-

tectural philanthropy due to Andrew
Carnegie’s controlling attitude toward
architectural design and its role in his
philanthropic gifts. Libraries funded
by Carnegie are scattered across the
United States, in addition to the rest of
the English-speaking world.3 Carnegie
libraries, as a structural type, have been
heavily studied regarding their impact on
library architecture and on architectural
philanthropy. Thus Carnegie’s architec-
tural beliefs concerning philanthropy and
education were important influences on
the final designs eventually created by
architect Charles Hausler when he de-
signed St. Paul’s Carnegie libraries.

The foremost consideration for
Carnegie was that all libraries built with
funds supplied by his corporation were
expected to be functional as well as vi-
sually pleasing. This was necessary in
considering that Carnegie sought to make
free public libraries accessible to as many
Americans as possible, thus requiring the
conservative use of funds. His primary
interest was not in the structures them-
selves, but rather in their ability to provide
anyone and everyone with knowledge and
understanding, should they be willing to
seek it.4 This belief in the power of pub-
lic libraries to educate was solidified by
the charter of the Carnegie Corporation,
which included the statement that one of
the organization’s goals was, “To promote
the advancement and diffusion of knowl-
edge and understanding among the people
of the United States.”5

Carnegie’s belief that the free pub-
lic library could elevate the population
is congruent with his insistence that the
funds he granted for the construction of
libraries were well spent so as to provide
the best access to literature possible for
as many communities as possible.6

In an effort to make library grants avail-
able to small communities like St. Anthony

RAMSEY COUNTY HISTORY 3



Detail, capital, St. Anthony Park Free Public
Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of Lauren M.
Freese.

Park, the West Side, and Payne/Phalen,
the Carnegie Corporation standardized the
application, review, and approval process
that facilitated the distribution of library
grants. As early as 1908, James Bertram,
Carnegie’s secretary, began requiring that
architects submit plans for any library to
be funded by Carnegie for approval before
construction commenced.7 This process
served as a method by which Bertram,
and thus Carnegie, could control the ap-
pearance of libraries constructed with
Carnegie funds. Bertram extended this
control with his publication of “Notes on
the Erection of Library Buildings,” the
first version of which was published and
distributed in 1911.8

The goal of “Notes” was not to instruct
architects on individual design details ac-
ceptable for Carnegie library buildings,
but rather to convey a few main points
important to both Carnegie and Bertram.
The most important of these was that ar-
chitects designing library buildings “ob-
tain for the money the utmost amount
of effectiv [szc] accommodation, con-
sistent with good taste in bilding [yzc].” 9
Another important point emphasized in
the “Notes” was that architectural fea-
tures that served little practical purpose
yet were costly and consumed space
should be avoided.10

Carnegie and Bertram’s insistence on
efficiency directly influenced Hausler’s
designs for the three St. Paul libraries. On
June 18, 1915, Charles Hausler submit-
ted two sets of architectural plans for ap-
proval by the Carnegie Corporation, ask-
ing Bertram to select one of the two for use
on all three structures. Bertram responded,
“Yours of June 18th and plans received,

4 RAMSEY COUNTY HISTORY

which we return as we do not wish to hav
[sic] to make a choice of plan for you. If
you will kindly send the plans which you
wish to adopt; we will then tell you whether
we ar [sic] able to pass them ornot___ One
important point we ar [izc] able to refer to
in connection with the plans. A $25,000
library bilding [yzc] does not need to hav
[m'c] the main floor 18 ft. in the clear. It can

Detail, column shaft, St. Anthony Park Free
Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

be at least 3 ft. lower.” Bertram also states
that, “we should not think that in two of the
plans the cost of making a wing behind the
bilding [mc] is notjustified by the accom-
modation it accrues. Boiler room, toilets,
etc. should be given accommodation in the
main block.” 11

On July 26, 1915, W. Dawson
Johnston, a St. Paul librarian, responded

to Bertram’s suggestions for changing the
library drawings by forwarding a state-
ment from Charles Hausler to Bertram’s
attention. In regard to Bertram’s suggested
changes, Hausler stated, “The reason for
adding the rear wing to the buildings is
principally to secure space for future ex-
pansion. The room marked reference room
on this plan, can in the future be used as a
stack room. It was merely a matter of de-
sign to fix the height of the main Reading
Room 18 in the clear. Also a room 36 x 74
feet large would call for a ceiling of that
height to be well proportioned and to per-
mit a uniform distribution of light.” 12
Despite this explanation, Bertram not
only rejected the plans Hausler had sub-
mitted, he also identified the many “prac-
tical objections” to the architect’s plans.
Bertram criticized Hausler’s design for
the entrance of the building stating that it
was purely for exterior effect, something
neither Bertram nor Carnegie advocated
for small branch libraries. Bertram also
wrote that the planned entrance to one of
the libraries was thirty-four feet wide and
would hamper the usability of the base-
ment. Bertram then stated, “We did not
appreciate your argument for the refer-
ence room... [namely], to be used in fu-
ture as a stack-room. It is too small to be
of any consequence as a stack-room.”13
Following a number of similar ex-
changes, Bertram approved the build-
ing plans for the three libraries on
September 8, 1915, with the stipulation
that “the library bilding [sic] the amended
plans call for wil [sZc] be erected com-
plete and ready to occupy at a cost of not
more than one-third the sum promist [szc]

Detail, between windows, frontofbuilding,
St. Anthony Park Free Public Library, 1917.
Photo courtesy of Lauren M. Freese.



for three library buildings, the plans ar
[sic] approvd [sic], and payments on the
bilding [sic] wil [sic] be arranged as work
progresses ” In this letter, Bertram also
requested that unframed photographs of
both the front and side of each library be
sent to the Carnegie Corporation upon
completion along with a set of the plans
and elevations used.14

Due to the influence the Carnegie Cor-
poration exercised, Charles Hausler was
not free to design the floor plan of the
libraries that were to be built in the St.
Anthony Park, West Side, and Payne/
Phalen communities. Although Bertram’s
“Notes” lacked any direction on how to
style or decorate proposed Carnegie librar-
ies to achieve the degree of beauty, these
guidelines do mention “good taste in build-
ing.” 15 Bertram also suggests that eleva-
tions should be kept plain and dignified,
and that ornamentation should in no way
impactthe efficiency ofthe interior plans.16
These directions reinforce the implication
that Bertram expected the design to in-
clude Classical elements. In all likelihood,
Charles Hausler had a copy of “Notes”
when he designed St. Paul’s Carnegie li-
braries and it is therefore possible that the
Beaux-Arts style of these libraries is a de-
rivative of Carnegie’s influence.

Both Carnegie and Bertram agreed that
libraries should project a sense of dignity.17
They favored details including monumen-
tal entrances, high windows and ceilings,
grand staircases, and marble floors as ve-
hicles to express this sentiment.18 These
characteristics were consistent with the
findings of a 1902 survey conducted by the
Architect’s Review that included a compi-
lation of the best modem library designs.
Because this article included structures that
were not Carnegie-funded, it is indicative
of the sentiment at the time which favored
a certain degree of monumentality in archi-
tecture of public spaces, specifically librar-
ies. Of the sixty-seven structures included
in the article, fifty-seven of them included
some Classical detailing. This popularity
was likely due to the fact that Classical ele-
ments had traditionally been a part of the
way in which architects expressed the pub-
lic nature of a structure.19The utilization of
strictly symmetrical facades also helped to
mark these libraries as public spaces.

For Hausler, the need to satisfy

Detail, embellishmentofrounded arches, St. Anthony Park Free Public
Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of Lauren M. Freese.

Bertram’s insistence on efficiency while
also expressing a high level of sophistica-
tion and dignity would have been a chal-
lenge. Consequently Hausler’s use of the
Beaux-Arts style in conjunction with pri-
marily brick fagades would have been both
economical and in keeping with the re-
quirements of the Carnegie Corporation.2)
The use of brick also helped the libraries
to fit into the neighborhoods in which
they were constructed.2l The diverse eth-
nic and socioeconomic identities of the
St. Anthony Park, West Side, and Payne/
Phalen communities further complicated
Hausler’s design responsibilities.

St. Paul’s Immigrant
Communities

In the first decades of the twentieth cen-
tury, the three communities that are home
to St. Paul’s Carnegie libraries were pop-
ulated by immigrants from varying ethnic
backgrounds and socioeconomic status.
At the time Hausler was designing these
libraries, the belief that the various eth-
nic groups in Europe were distinct races

and that among these races there ex-
isted a hierarchy detailing which groups
were preferred by Americans was wide-
spread. Immigrants from Great Britain,
Scandinavia, and Germany stood at the
top of this hierarchy. Next were people
from Switzerland. Immigrants of Italian,
Greek, Polish, Hungarian, or Jewish ori-
gin were at the bottom.2 Strong preju-
dice toward immigrants in general, Jews,
Catholics, and other ethnic and religious
groups in the United States was preva-
lent. Thus the perceived differences be-
tween immigrants of different ethnic
and religious backgrounds highlights the
importance of the real or perceived dif-
ferences between the St. Anthony Park,
West Side, and Payne/Phalen communi-
ties in the design and construction of the
three St. Paul Carnegie libraries.

These perceptions are clearly stated
in a letter from the mayor of St. Paul
and the president of the Library Board
of Directors to James Bertram request-
ing a contribution from the Carnegie
Corporation toward the construction of
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Detail, main entry, left side, Riverview Free
Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

free public libraries.23The language used
in this letter illustrates the perceived dif-
ferences between these three St. Paul
communities and the overriding beliefs
of the time regarding recent immigrants:

“A” First Ward, Arlington Hill[s]24

—largely Scandinavian, population 1910,
24,000, about 5,000 school children in the
district. Request for this branch:

$30,000

“B” Sixth Ward, West Side

—largely Hebrew, population 1910 22,000,
4,800 school children and they have no op-
portunity at home to read, since their houses
are crowded. Request for this branch:

$20,000

“C” St. Anthony Park, North
—five and one-half miles from the center of
the city, largely residential, population 1910
11,000, about 1,500 school children, better
class of residences. Request for this branch:

$25,000
or a total for the three branches:

$75,0005
The Payne/Phalen (Arlington Hills)

population is identified as being “largely
Scandinavian,” thereby putting the resi-
dents of this area at the top of the hier-
archy of new immigrants.26 On the other
hand, the reference to the West Side with
its “largely Hebrew” population includ-
ing “4,800 school children” with “no op-
portunity to read at home because their
houses are crowded,” presents a curious
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assumption given the fact that Payne/
Phalen had a larger population and was
home to more school-age children.

In contrast to the other two neighbor-
hoods, there is no mention of the ethnic
or religious identity of the residents of
St. Anthony Park. In that neighborhood,
only their economic status is mentioned,
noting that they live in a “better class of
residences.” The omission of any eth-
nic identification of the residents of St.
Anthony Park implies that the authors
of this letter believed these residents em-
bodied the perceived norm at the time.

of the University of Minnesota made St.
Anthony Park a convenient location for
many well-educated residents.2/

The early history and development
of the St. Anthony Park explain these
characteristics. From its founding, this
neighborhood was intended to have a
homogeneous population, “supportive
of education, churches, temperance, and
the high ideals of Victorian society.” 28 It
was envisioned as a middle-class neigh-
borhood and was advertised as a “most
desirable interurban district” and tailored
to provide advantages to families.2 The

Detail, capital, Riverview Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of Lauren M. Freese.

By implication, therefore, the residents
of the West Side and Payne/Phalen com-
munities are “different.”

The clarity of the perceived differ-
ences between these communities ex-
pressed in this document is integral to
the design and construction of the three
Carnegie libraries. For the mayor and the
Library Board, the accuracy of this de-
mographic data was of little importance
and the perception of these differences
had important implications for the archi-
tectural design of the libraries.

St. Anthony Park
Free Public Library

The St. Anthony Park community, as
representative of the implied norm for
St. Paul at the time, was defined by eco-
nomic status and education rather than
by race. Residents were generally home-
owners with jobs that required skilled
labor. Homes in the area were equipped
with many modem conveniences and had
easy access to efficient public transpor-
tation and utilities. Its proximity to both
Luther Seminary and the St. Paul campus

land that was developed as St. Anthony
Park was divided into large, irregular lots
that would accommodate large houses
with room for green spaces, both public
and private.30 St. Anthony Park consisted
mainly of single-family homes, some of
which were constructed by prominent
figures in St. Paul’s history.3L Transit sys-
tems connected the area to St. Paul and
Minneapolis and many early residents
used public transportation to commute
to and from work. Other residents were
employed by furniture manufacturing
companies originally attracted to the
area by the St. Anthony Park Company.3
Additionally, residents enjoyed modem
conveniences including electrical lines
to provide home lighting and sewage
systems.33

Furthermore, St. Anthony Park had,
by far, the lowest population of the three
communities, 11,000 residents in 1910
compared to 24,000 residents in Payne/
Phalen and 22,000 in the West Side.
This difference was also reflected in the
number of school children: 1,500 in St.
Anthony Park; 5,000 in Payne/Phalen;



and 4,800 in the West Side. Yet the St.
Anthony Park library is nearly identical
in size and floor plan in comparison with
the other two Carnegie libraries.

These differences in local popula-
tion, however, are not reflected in the
monetary requests made for each com-
munity. $25,000 was requested for St.
Anthony Park, $30,000 requested for
Payne/Phalen, and just $20,000 for the
West Side.3 Note that despite the fact
that the St. Anthony Park community had
approximately half as many residents as
the West Side and Payne/Phalen commu-
nities, the Library Board of Directors re-
quested a similar sum for its construction,
an amount greater than was requested for
the much larger West Side community.
When these St. Paul communities re-
ceived official approval of their request
for funding on May 8, 1914, Bertram’s

Detail column shaft, Riverview Free Public
Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of Lauren M.
Freese.

Detail, around windows, frontofbuilding, Riverview Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy

ofLauren M. Freese.

letter does not specify how much should
be used for each library, only granting
the lump sum of $75,000.3% In later cor-
respondence, however, Bertram refers to
one of these three buildings as “a $25,000
library building,” suggesting that the
lump sum was divided evenly between
the three communities.3 Furthermore,
equal budgets despite disparities in popu-
lation size meant that the patrons of the
St. Anthony Park library were afforded
comforts, such as more personal space,
so that the community was, overall, better
served by the presence of their Carnegie
library.

In addition to the larger interior space
allocated for each potential library pa-
tron, the facade of the St. Anthony Park
library symbolically indicates the per-
ceived higher status, both ethnically and
economically, awarded to the residents
of this neighborhood in the early 1900s.
Charles Hausler’s first assertion of this
status is through his design of the ap-
proach to the St. Anthony Park building.
While all three structures require that
patrons climb a flight of stairs to enter,
St. Anthony Park is the only one of the
three that forces patrons to take an indi-
rect approach. An approach of this nature
elevates the status of the structure as well
as the status of those permitted to enter.37
Monumental entries afforded a struc-
ture a sense of dignity, a value that was
consistent with the expectations of both
Andrew Carnegie and James Bertram.3

The St. Anthony Park entry is adorned

with a laurel wreath motif. This is a
Classically inspired ornamentation, tradi-
tionally used as an indicator of victory or
commendable military, civic, or athletic
achievements.3® By incorporating the
laurel wreath pattern as a featured deco-
rative element, Hausler has given added
status to the library.

Hausler’s use of Classically inspired
decorative elements that elevate the
status of the St. Anthony Park library
is also evident on the design of the col-
umns on this building.40 The capitals
have a highly elaborate design, which
compares most closely to the Corinthian
order. The Corinthian order is indicative
of the highest levels of wealth and intel-
lect.4l Traditionally, Corinthian columns
were reserved for use in the most impor-
tant rooms of a structure, for example,
shrines, lecture rooms, or cult places.&
The shafts of these columns are formed of
multiple flat planes in a geometric shape
rather than a more traditional rounded
semi-circle shaft. This deviation from
strict Classical design serves to highlight
their brick construction.

Other decorative elements on the St.
Anthony Park facade also convey the
structure’s elevated status. For example,
an eight-pointed star fashioned of brick
and concrete is repeated between the
large, arched windows. While this is an
ambiguous design element, eight-pointed
stars were commonly used in Classical
pottery, a medium easily transferable to
architectural use.43 Furthermore, the St.
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Above main entry, Arlington Hills Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of Lauren M. Freese.

Detail, main entry, leftside, Arlington Hills
Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

Anthony Park library is the only one of
the three to display the name of the com-
munity on the facade of the structure, in-
dicating high levels of community pride
and the architect’s desire to associate the
structure with the perceived characteris-
tics of the community. Finally, the repeti-
tion of the stylized acanthus leaf-pattern
utilized in the capitals as a decorative pat-
tern adorning arches over the windows
is another Classical characteristic that is
unique to the St. Anthony Park structure.
This repetition serves to unify the facade.

The facade of the St. Anthony Park
library, when viewed in contrast to those
of the Riverview and Arlington Hills li-
braries, is a clear indication of the gen-
eral perception of the residents of the St.
Anthony Park community. Just as this
Carnegie library’s facade reflects its com-
munity through a complex decorative pro-
gram, the facades of the Riverview and
Arlington Hills libraries reflect the lower
status that was accorded their residents.

Riverview Free Public
Library (West Side)

In extreme contrast to the planned de-
velopment of the St. Anthony Park com-
munity, the West Side developed hap-
hazardly as a makeshift shanty town
which was home to a transient immigrant
population. Immigrants came to the area
in the 1850s, but it was isolated from
greater St. Paul until the construction of
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Detail, main entry, center, Arlington Hills
Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

the Wabasha Bridge over the Mississippi
River in 1859.44The West Side was home
to breweries, foundries, quarries, and
other manufacturing operations, making
it attractive to new immigrants who were
generally relegated to unskilled labor.46
In 1916, of the 650 families that called
the West Side home, approximately 82%
were bom outside of the United States;
70% of these families were Russian
Jewish, 5% were Syrian, 5% Irish, and
the remainder were French, Polish, or
were representatives of another national-
ity.46In addition to the Jewish population,
as early as 1900, the West Side became
home to a growing Hispanic and Latino
population.47 Many of these Mexican
residents had migrated to Minnesota to
obtain work as field hands. Due to poor
crop production between 1918 and 1919,
many of these migrant workers took jobs
with railroads or packing houses, easily
accessible from their homes on the West
Side.48 As the 1920s began, many of the
Jewish residents of the area moved to
other areas of the city, making room for
newcomers, such as the Mexicans.

The differences between the West
Side and St. Anthony Park in the devel-
opment are immediately apparent. The
West Side was not planned nor was it
purposefully developed; it was settled as
immigrants came to the area in search of
housing and jobs. When Charles Hausler
designed that neighborhood’s Carnegie

Detail, main entry, rightside, Arlington Hills
Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

library, residents of the West Side were
widely perceived as people of low socio-
economic status, which was typified by
the correspondence with the Carnegie
Corporation. Residents lived primarily in
homes of wooden construction, many of
which provided housing to more than one
family. Unlike the planned St. Anthony
Park, the West Side community did not
afford residents luxuries like green spaces
in the form of large parks or backyards.49

The perceived status of residents of the
West Side relative to those of St. Anthony
Park is clearly visible on the facades
of each community’s Carnegie library.
While the St. Anthony Park structure was
designed with an indirect staircase entry,
the Riverview library is accessed by a
straight flight of stairs which leads di-
rectly to the main entry. This direct entry
is less ceremonial and much simpler than
that of the St. Anthony Park structure.
While all three libraries are elevated,
forcing patrons to climb stairs to enter,
the Riverview library has less grandeur
than that of St. Anthony Park, yet still
conveys the elevated status of knowledge,
and learning expressed through Classical
design elements.50 The door leading
into the Riverview library is unadorned
except for an arch-shaped window bor-
dered by a rounded brick arch. This lack
of any decorative elements sets the tone
for the whole facade, which is compara-
tively simple. In short, the overall lack of



adornment not only conveys the compar-
atively low or “common” socioeconomic
status of the building’s likely patrons, it
also reflects the perceived lesser status of
these patrons.

The columns on the facade of the
Riverview library are pilasters rather than
columns in the round.5l At the Riverview
library, Hausler designed the capitals of
these pilasters as mere extensions of the
decorative molding that wraps around
the structure in lieu of a Doric, lonic,
or Corinthian capital. Although no sig-
nificant decorative elements adorn these
capitals, they do comply with one of
the key rules of Classical styling, which
holds that columns cannot be dislodged
from their entablature.52 Like the shafts
of the columns at St. Anthony Park, the
Riverview pilasters are of brick construc-
tion. The simplicity of these columns is
significant because this library was not
given the same type of decorative pro-
gram that was used at St. Anthony Park.
Pilasters are less costly to construct than
the geometric columns that appear at St.
Anthony Park and the use of an extension
ofthe entablature in place of a proper cap-
ital is indicative of the lower status of the
West Side residents due to their economic
class, religion, and country of origin.

The main decorative elements at the
Riverview library are circular pieces of
marble surrounded by a brick frame. This
signifies the importance of the marble
as a material and elevates it by adding
a frame, as if to liken it to a work of art
or sculpture. These decorative elements
repeat themselves across the facade, al-
ways underneath a band of brickwork
laid in a herringbone pattern. In compari-
son to the elaborately carved decorative
elements that appear on the St. Anthony
Park library, the Riverview library fea-
tures decorative elements that highlight
the brick construction of the structure.53
In addition, brick costs considerably
less than marble accents and the simply
carved pieces were easier to produce than
the more intricate decorative features at
St. Anthony Park. Thus the variations be-
tween the facades of the Riverview and
St. Anthony Park libraries clearly indi-
cate the perceived status of West Side
residents in comparison to those of St.
Anthony Park.
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Detail, column base, Arlington Hills Free

Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of
Lauren M. Freese.

The extensive use of brick in combi-
nation with the less elaborate decorative
program at the Riverview library appears
to reflect the contemporary perception
of the Jewish community. As the corre-
spondence between Bertram and decision
makers heavily involved in St. Paul pub-
lic library system states that the Jewish
children on the West Side, unlike those
in the Payne/Phalen community, “have
no opportunity at home to read, since
their houses are crowded.” 4 The implica-
tion is that these Jews were assumed to
be poor, to live in cramped apartments
or tenements, and to be of the lowest
social class; a perception which is re-
peated in the design of the facade of the
Riverview library. Although many Jewish
immigrants were impoverished, ironi-
cally they also had more social capital,
literacy, education, or marketable skills
than did many other immigrant groups at
the time.%

In his 1916 book, The Passing of the
Great Race, Madison Grant popular-
ized the view that there were four major
European races, the “worst” of which
were the Jews. He believed that race and
class were intertwined and that the lower
economic classes consisted mainly of
those of “low” races. Because many of
the Jews living on the West Side were
of Eastern European descent, the likeli-

hood that they would be perceived nega-
tively by outsiders due to the contempo-
rary concept of a racial hierarchy was
increased.5%

Arlington Hills Free Public
Library (Payne/Phalen)

The perceived status of the inhabitants of
the Payne/Phalen community was based
on their primary ethnic identity and on
the history of the development of the
community itself. The settlement of the
Payne/Phalen community began in 1850
when immigrants moved to the area in
search of employment. The first immi-
grants to the area, many of whom were
from Sweden, spoke little English and
provided the area with one of its many
names, Swede Hollow.57 Many of the res-
idents of these early communities lived
in what would now be termed temporary
residences and upon finding work and
amassing sufficient funds would move to
more permanent housing.53 Based on the
ethnic attitudes of the time, Scandinavian
immigrants were among the most highly
regarded new immigrant groups, occupy-
ing a perceived status between those of
the residents of St. Anthony Park and the
West Side.5 The moderate status of the
residents of Payne/Phalen is visibly ap-
parent in the examination of the facade of
the Arlington Hills library.

The space above the main entry at
Arlington Hills is decorated with a frieze-
like, bas-relief sculptural group. The in-
clusion of didactic sculpture differenti-
ates this entry from those of the other two
libraries while also lending itself to inter-
pretation. The left side of this decorative
panel depicts a man and two women in
Classical dress. The male figure raises
his hand in an oratory gesture, possibly
the sculptor’s attempt to depict education
or instruction. He gestures toward an up-

Detalil, iron grate under windows, Arlington Hills Free Public Library, 1917. Photo courtesy of

Lauren M. Freese.
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Detail, between windows, frontofbuilding,
Arlington Hills Free Public Library, 1917.
Photo courtesy of Lauren M. Freese.

right female figure that places her hand
on the head of the seated figure. This
could be interpreted as a gesture of the
woman’s approval of her companion’s
chosen activity, reading. The right side
of this sculptural group depicts a similar
scene. It shows three figures, Classically
garbed, a standing male and female near
a seated male child. The woman carries
a book and interacts directly with the
male figure. The male places his hand on
a globe, lifted into the air by the seated
child. The child’s gesture calls attention
to the globe, possibly an indication of
the elevation of one’s self through learn-
ing; a philosophy professed by Carnegie
himself. Behind all three figures, a torch
bums, likely to signify the flame of
knowledge, fueled by the books and re-
sources within the structure.

This use of didactic sculpture on the
library facade relates directly to the use
of didactic sculpture on religious struc-
tures. It served to label this structure as a
library through use of symbols related to
knowledge and education. Interestingly,
the center of this decorative element,
seemingly reserved for a central sculp-
tural figure, was left blank. Perhaps
Hausler originally planned to insert a vi-
gnette of some sort in this space and its
replacement with a marble slab was the
architect’s later substitution, primarily
due to a lack of funds.

The inclusion of this sculptural group
in the fagcade at Arlington Hills is an im-
portant indicator of the perception of the
Payne/Phalen community. It labels the
structure as a library, and may have been
intended as the architect’s helpful gesture
for directing the residents of the commu-
nity to the library. Conversely, it could be
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a subtle statement of the fact that the com-
munity’s first generation immigrant popu-
lation may not recognize the structure as
apublic library simply through its contex-
tual clues, such as its Classical styling.6

Unlike the St. Anthony Park and
Riverview columns, the columns at the
Arlington Hills library are concrete
rather than brick. These columns take
the form of pilasters and are topped with
capitals with volutes and unadorned echi-
nus. This design solution suggests a styl-
ized version of Classical lonic columns.
In the hierarchy of Greek architectural
orders, the lonic column was positioned
between the highest, Corinthian, and
the lowest, Doric, orders.6l By utilizing
lonic columns, this element of the build-
ing’s design is congruent with the place
Scandinavian immigrants occupied at
that time in the popularly held hierarchy
of immigrants and their social status.

An interesting, deviant decorative ele-
ment at Arlington Hills is the inclusion of
a wrought iron, Sullivanesque grate. This
feature is not Classical or Beaux-Arts in-

spired; rather it is based on natural forms,
heavily used by Louis Sullivan. Sullivan
based architectural design on “a belief
that the universe was sustained by a cos-
mic rhythm. Change, flow, and one entity
turning into another were effects of a uni-
versal becoming.”& As one of Sullivan’s
students, Charles Hausler thought very
highly of his ideas, referring to Sullivan as,
“the greatest architectural brain that ever
lived.”& Finally, on the Arlington Hills li-
brary Hausler includes rectangular marble
accents framed with brick. These marble
accents appear prominently between the
larger windows and are carved as if to sug-
gest a frame, elevating the importance of
the marble as a material and emphasizing
the Classical nature of the library.

The overall decorative program of the
Arlington Hills fagcade includes elements
suggestive of both the St. Anthony Park
and Riverview libraries. The use of pilas-
ters and marble inserts as a major deco-
rative element is comparable to similar
components of the decorative program
at the Riverview structure. Conversely,

This photo ofarchitect

Charles A. Hausler (1889-1971)
dates from about 1917, the
same time that he prepared the
plans for St. Pauls three Beaux-
Arts Carnegie libraries. Born in
the city's West Seventh Street
neighborhood, Hausler attended
Mechanic Arts High School for
a few years before heading to
Chicago where he worked in the
offices ofseveral notable archi-
tects, including Louis Sullivan.
He received his license as an
architect in Minnesota in 1908.
In 1913 he was appointed St.
Pauls first city architect, a posi-
tion he held until 1922. Over the
course ofhis career, Hausler de-
signed more than one hundred
buildings, including schools,
hospitals, churches, banks, pri-
vate residences, and commercial
buildings. The Hausler-designed
Minnesota Building (completed
1929) at East Fourth Street and
CedarAvenue along with the
three Carnegie library buildings
are all listed on the National
Register of Historic Places.
Photo courtesy of the Minnesota
Historical Society.



the use of a recognizable Classical order
and a substantial decorative element
above the main entry calls to mind the St.
Anthony Park library. This combination
of design factors points to the status, both
ethnic and socioeconomic, of the resi-
dents of the Payne/Phalen community.

Perceptions of Communi-

ties in Facade Variations

At the time Charles Hausler prepared his
Carnegie library plans, the St. Anthony
Park, West Side, and Payne/Phalen com-
munities were all perceived differently,
largely due to popularly held beliefs
regarding immigrant groups and socio-
economic variations.  Architecturally,
these beliefs and perceptions manifest
themselves through differing facades and
decorative programs. The St. Anthony
Park library is, by far, the most elaborate.
This design choice is congruent with the
fact that the contemporary perception of
residents of this neighborhood was al-
most entirely positive. The inclusion of
the name of the community on the facade
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